
Hearing Decision 

Date:  25 May 2022 

Event:  Lion Island Series, Race 3. Held on 21 May 2022 

Initiator:  Bushranger (sail number 12450), represented by Micheal Fountain 

Respondent: Soozal (sail number 60408), represented by Keiran Mulcahy 

Facts found: 

1. Windspeed was approximately 2 knots and the sea-state was flat. The wind 

direction was Southerly and shifty. The first mark was approximately north of the 

starting line. 

2. Approximately 30 seconds before the start signal, Bushranger was clear ahead and 

to windward of Mercury. Both boats on starboard, reaching parallel and Bushranger 

was 2 hull lengths from the starting line. Both boats were travelling at approximately 

1.5 knots boat speed. 

3. Soozal was on port tack, reaching towards the starting line and on a collision course 

with Bushranger, travelling at approximately 1.5 knots boat speed. 

4. Soozal bore away when Bushranger was approximately 2 boat lengths away. This 

slowed Soozal and a collision course remained between Bushranger and Soozal. 

5. Bushranger bore away and gybed onto port tack on a course parallel with Soozal, 

overlapped with Soozal after her gybe. 

6. Vento had passed astern of Bushranger and had gybed onto starboard, to windward 

of Mercury. 

7. After Bushranger gybed to port, Mercury and Vento were on a collision course with 

her and both bore away to avoid Bushranger. 

Protest Committee Diagram: 

 

Blue = Soozal Yellow = Bushranger Red = Vento  Grey = Mercury 



Conclusions: 

1. Soozal attempted to keep clear by bearing away. Given the conditions, this turn was 

slow and Soozal remained on a collision course with Bushranger. While this fact 

was disputed by the parties, the protest committee refer to World Sailing Case 50 as 

pertinent guidance, At best, there is reasonable doubt that Soozal could have 

crossed ahead of Bushranger and Bushranger did change course in to avoid 

Soozal. Therefore Soozal, on port tack, failed to keep clear of Bushranger who was 

on starboard tack and broke rule 10. 

2. When Bushranger bore away to avoid a collision with Soozal, it became a keep 

clear boat and failed to keep clear of Mercury and possibly Vento (rule 11 or 10). 

However, Bushranger is exonerated by rule 43.1(a) as it was compelled to break the 

rule due to Soozal breaking a rule 10. 

Decision: 

Soozal is disqualified from the race. 

 

Protest Committee:  Richard Slater (IU, IJ), Steven Merrington (NJ), and Richard Hudson 

(SJ) 

Decision Published: 26 May 2022 



 

CASE 50 
Definitions, Keep Clear 
Rule 10, On Opposite Tacks  
Rule 14, Avoiding Contact 

When a protest committee finds that in a port-starboard 
incident S did not change course and that there was not a 
genuine and reasonable apprehension of collision on the 
part of S, it should dismiss her protest. When the committee 
finds that S did change course and that there was reasonable 
doubt that P could have crossed ahead of S if S had not 
changed course, then P should be disqualified. 

Facts 
On a windward leg, P met S and sailed a course to cross ahead of S. S bore 
away, displayed a protest flag, and hailed P her intent to protest. Both boats 
were identical 27-foot (8 m) keel boats, and the wind strength was Force 3. 
S protested under rule 10, stating that she had to bear away to avoid colliding 
with P. The protest committee dismissed the protest by S, stating that ‘The 
need to change course could not be substantiated by the conflicting 
testimony of the two helmsmen.’ S appealed. 

 



 

Decision 
Rule 10 protests involving no contact are very common, and protest 
committees tend to handle them in very different ways. Some place an onus 
on the port-tack boat to prove conclusively that she would have cleared the 
starboard-tack boat, even when the latter’s evidence is barely worthy of 
credence. No such onus appears in rule 10. Other protest committees are 
reluctant to allow any rule 10 protest in the absence of contact, unless the 
starboard-tack boat proves conclusively that contact would have occurred 
had she not changed course. Both approaches are incorrect. 
S’s diagram, later endorsed by the protest committee, shows that S bore 
away to avoid contact. P’s diagram, which was not endorsed by the protest 
committee, showed a near miss if S did not bear away. P did not deny or 
confirm that S bore away but said that, if she did, it was unnecessary.  
A starboard-tack boat in such circumstances need not hold her course so as 
to prove, by hitting the port-tack boat, that a collision was inevitable. 
Moreover, if she does so she will break rule 14. At a protest hearing, S must 
establish either that contact would have occurred if she had held her course, 
or that there was enough doubt that P could safely cross ahead to create a 
reasonable apprehension of contact on S’s part and that it was unlikely that 
S would have ‘no need to take avoiding action’ (see the definition Keep 
Clear). 
In her own defence, P must present adequate evidence to establish either 
that S did not change course or that P would have safely crossed ahead of S 
and that S had no need to take avoiding action. When, after considering all 
the evidence, a protest committee finds that S did not change course or that 
there was not a genuine and reasonable apprehension of collision on her 
part, it should dismiss her protest. When, however, it is satisfied that S did 
change course, that there was reasonable doubt that P could have crossed 
ahead, and that S was justified in taking avoiding action by bearing away, 
then P should be disqualified. 
On the facts, as shown in the diagram and the report of the protest 
committee, the ability of P to cross ahead of S was doubtful at best. S’s 
appeal is upheld, and P is disqualified. 
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